# State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District IV

# **RECEIVED** 08-27-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015 AP 1113 - CR Sauk County Case No. 2013 CF 318

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

Philip J. Hawley,

Defendant-Appellant.

## **Brief of Defendant-Appellant**

On appeal from a judgment of the Sauk County Circuit Court, The Honorable Patrick J. Taggart, presiding.

> Brandon Kuhl State Bar No. 1074262

Kuhl Law, LLC PO Box 5267 Madison Wisconsin 53705-0267 888.377.9193

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

# **

# **Issues Presented for Review**

I. Whether the warrantless blood draw was constitutional under the circumstances.

#### **Statement of the Case**

On 29 August 2013, Sergeant Jon Hanson reported to the scene of a single vehicle motorcycle accident. (R.70:14.) He found the defendant, Philip Hawley, in a semi-conscious state on the side of the highway. (R.70:18; App.34.) While waiting for emergency medical personnel to arrive, Sergeant Hanson rendered first aid and noticed several signs that Mr. Hawley was intoxicated. (R. 70:18-21; App.34-37.)

Upon arrival of emergency personnel, Sergeant Hanson contacted Officer Matthew Shaw at the UW Police Department and requested that a blood draw be performed on Mr. Hawley to test for intoxication. (R.70:27-28; App.43-44.) Neither Sergeant Hanson nor Officer Shaw applied for a warrant. (R.70; App. 17-64.) On the basis of the illegally-obtained blood draw, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Hawley first with Operating While Intoxicated as a sixth offense, then later amended the charge to allege a seventh offense (Count 2 included the PAC charge which did not result in conviction). (R.1, 38; App.1, 17.)

Mr. Hawley filed several motions, including a Motion to Suppress the warrantless blood draw and to find Wisconsin's implied consent law unconstitutional to the extent that it violates his right against unreasonable search and seizure. (R.17; R.30; R. 75-76.) The circuit court denied both the original and post-conviction motions on the basis that exigent circumstances justified a warrantless blood draw. (R.33; R.78; App.10-14, 65.)

The jury convicted Mr. Hawley of Operating While Intoxicated as a seventh offense. (R.61; App.63.)

He now appeals the order denying suppression of the warrantless blood draw as well as his subsequent conviction.

#### Standard of Review

This case involves the application of constitutional principles to undisputed facts as well as the constitutionality of a statute. Therefore, this court should review all issues de novo. *State v. Williams*, 104 Wis. 2d 15, 21-22, 310 N.W.2d 601 (1981); *Farrell v. John Deere Co.*, 151 Wis. 2d 45, 443 N.W.2d 50 (1989); *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 15, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63.

#### Argument

The warrantless blood draw was unconstitutional under the circumstances, and the circuit court should have suppressed it and all evidence stemming from it.

The constitutionality of a warrantless blood draw now hinges on proper interpretation and application of the US Supreme Court's decision in *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013), which clarified the Court's earlier decision in *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966). Specifically, the Supreme Court held as follows:

"The question presented here is whether the natural metabolization of alcohol in the bloodstream presents a per se exigency that justifies an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement for nonconsensual blood testing in all drunk-driving cases. We conclude that it does not, and we hold, consistent with general Fourth Amendment principles, that exigency in this context must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances." *McNeely* at 1556.

In short, a warrantless blood draw is unconstitutional unless exigent circumstances make application for a warrant impossible under the totality of the circumstances. What exactly constitutes exigent circumstances must be determined case by case. *McNeely* at 1561. However, the Supreme Court made one bright line rule clear:

"In those drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so." *Id*.

Therefore, if the officers reasonably could have obtained a warrant before taking Mr. Hawley's blood, they were required to do so.

On 25 June 2014, this issue came before the circuit court. (R.70; App.17-64.) Officer Matthew Shaw testified that he visited the hospital and read aloud an "Informing the Accused" form while Mr. Hawley was unconscious. (R.70:5-8; App. 21-24.) Officer Shaw then filled out the form, indicating that the still-unconscious Mr. Hawley consented to a warrantless blood draw. (R.70:7-8; App. 23-24.)

Critically, Officer Shaw received the blood draw request at 12:24 p.m., and he read the "Informing the Accused" form at 1:35 p.m.,

just prior to the blood draw. (R.70:11-12, 30; App.27-28, 46.) This means that Officer Shaw had more than an hour to obtain a warrant. Officer Shaw testified, however, that he was unfamiliar with the procedure for electronically applying for a search warrant. (R.70:12; App.28.)

Further, Sergeant Jon Hanson testified that he instructed Officer Shaw to take the blood draw without a warrant under an exigent circumstances rationale. (R.70:28; App.44.) When asked why he thought exigent circumstances existed, Sergeant Hanson answered incoherently:

"Because I was aware at that time, I believe, fairly new rule reference felony OWI charges. If the defendant denied a blood draw, a search warrant needs to be done. The case being here — information I received, once again, this was quite new. It just come out. If a person was unable to speak or was unconscious, et cetera, therefor, it would be exigent circumstances for the blood draw." (R. 70:28; App.44.)

The State offered Sergeant Hanson a lifeline: "Were you concerned about the medical care that the defendant was receiving affecting a blood test result?" (R.70:28; App.44.)

Sergeant Hanson answered simply, "Yes." (R.70:28; App.44.)

This claim remains the sole basis ever provided to justify a finding of exigent circumstances in this case.

It is unreasonable that a vague, unsubstantiated concern, supported neither by express, factual observation nor any other evidence in the record, somehow might constitute a sufficient basis to forgo a warrant. Regardless of what medical care Mr. Hawley received en route to the hospital, foregoing a warrant offered no remedy; whatever legal procedure the officers followed, his medical care would remain unchanged. No explanation exists in the record as to how law enforcement's application for a warrant would interfere with Mr. Hawley's medical care. The most obvious reason for this absence is that no valid reason for such concern ever existed.

Crucially, both Officer Shaw and Sergeant Hanson had more than an hour to apply for a warrant between the blood draw request and its completion. Claiming exigent circumstances is especially unreasonable given the fact that Sergeant Hanson acknowledged that, subsequent to requesting the warrantless blood draw at 12:24 p.m., he simply stopped working on the case. (R.70:29;

App. 45.) He was only two hours and twenty-four minutes into his shift. (R.70:14; App.30.) More importantly, he specifically acknowledged that he had time to apply for a warrant:

"Q: But between the time you left the scene and [the] time they took the blood draw, you would have had time to get [an] electronic warrant if you chose to do that?

"A: I would have had time, yes." (R.70:39; App. 55.)

Nonetheless, the circuit court denied Mr. Hawley's motion to suppress the warrantless blood draw. (R.33; App.10-14.) The court reasoned that Sergeant Hanson faced a dilemma when he set aside law enforcement concerns long enough to tend to Mr. Hawley's medical needs, during which time, normal metabolic processes certainly reduced the concentration of alcohol in Mr. Hawley's blood. (R.33:4; App.13.) The court never discussed what exigent circumstances prevented either law enforcement officer from seeking a warrant in the hour after Mr. Hawley was transported from the accident and before the blood draw. (R.33; App.10-14.)

The dilemma, therefore, is irrelevant to the precise time period at issue. Sergeant Hanson admitted under oath that he had time to

seek a warrant after emergency personnel arrived. (R.70:39; App. 55.) This is a plain admission that exigent circumstances did not exist. No rationale has ever been given to explain how applying for a warrant would have interfered with either Mr. Hawley's medical care or the collection of evidence during the hour-long period between when Sergeant Hanson last saw Mr. Hawley and when the blood draw was actually performed.

Second, as made clear in *McNeely*, alcohol metabolism and the destruction of evidence is an issue in every intoxicated driving case and is in no way peculiar to this case. The totality of the circumstances specific to each case must show exigent circumstances before a warrantless blood draw can be deemed constitutional.

Our Supreme Court has applied the *McNeely* rule three times, and our Court of Appeals has applied the rule once. First, in *State v. Reese*, our Court of Appeals applied a good faith exception to the exclusionary rule because *McNeely* was decided subsequent to the events in that case, and law enforcement was entitled to rely on existing Wisconsin precedent, 2014 WI App 27, ¶¶ 19-22,

844 NW 2d 396. Our Supreme Court applied the same rule in *State v. Kennedy*, 2014 WI 132, 856 N.W.2d 834 as well as *State v. Foster*, 2014 WI 131, 856 N.W.2d 847.

The good faith exception does not apply in this case, as the *McNeely* case was decided on 17 April 2013, prior to the August 2013 events giving rise to this case.

In *State v. Tullberg*, our Supreme Court found exigency when law enforcement's reasonable investigation and the necessity of subsequent medical care delayed the decision to seek a blood draw until little time remained for useful evidence collection, 2014 WI 134, 857 N.W.2d 120. After a difficult investigation involving multiple possible drivers and rocky terrain, the officer faced the possibility of missing a three-hour deadline for the blood draw due to the necessity of lengthy medical treatment. *Id.* at ¶¶ 43-50. Our Supreme Court determined that the officer acted reasonably in the investigation and that the window of time within which the blood draw would be reliable was unavoidably curtailed by medical concerns outside the officer's control. *Id.* While the destruction of evidence inherent in the suspect's

normal metabolization of alcohol was a factor in determining the window of time within which the blood draw was necessary, it was not the only factor giving rise to exigency. *Id.* Instead, the totality of the circumstances demanded that the defendant's blood be taken without delay. *Id.* 

For the reasons stated above, no such exigency existed in this case. Sergeant Hanson acknowledged that he had time to apply for a warrant; this court should take him at his word.

#### **Conclusion**

The officers in this case had an hour to apply for a warrant, which they chose to forgo without valid reason. As such, we request that Mr. Hawley's conviction be vacated and that he be granted a new trial in which the blood draw evidence is properly excluded. Finally, we request that Wis. Stat. § 343.305 be deemed unconstitutional to the extent it conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *McNeely*.