# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-05-2015

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP1113-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PHILIP J. HAWLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN THE SAUK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PATRICK J. TAGGART PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The blood draw that was performed on Hawley was lawful because it was justified by exigent circumstances.

## A. Applicable legal standards.

"The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect '[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 29 (alteration in Tullberg) (quotation marks and quoted source omitted). "The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." Id. (quoting Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991)). "The Fourth Amendment does not proscribe all state-initiated searches and seizures; it merely proscribes those which are unreasonable." Id. (quoting Jimeno, 500 U.S. at 250).

"A warrantless search is presumptively unreasonable, and is constitutional only if it falls under an exception to the warrant requirement[.]" Id., ¶ 30 (citations omitted). "One exception to the warrant requirement is the exigent circumstances doctrine, which holds that a warrantless search complies with the Fourth Amendment if the need for a search is urgent and insufficient time to obtain a warrant exists." Id. (citation omitted).

Consistent with the U.S. Supreme Court, [the Wisconsin Supreme Court] has recognized four circumstances which, when measured against the time required to procure a warrant, constitute exigent circumstances that justify a warrantless [search]: (1) an arrest made in 'hot pursuit,' (2) a threat to the safety of the suspect or others, (3) a risk that evidence will be destroyed, and (4) a likelihood that the suspect will flee.

Robinson, 327 Wis. 2d 302,  $\P$  30 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

"A blood draw to uncover evidence of a crime is a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 31 (citation omitted).

A warrantless, nonconsensual blood draw of a suspected drunken driver complies with the Fourth Amendment if: (1) there was probable cause to believe the blood would furnish evidence of a crime; (2) the blood was drawn under exigent circumstances; (3) the blood was drawn in a reasonable manner; and (4) the suspect did not reasonably object to the blood draw."

Id. (citations omitted).4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> By not arguing otherwise, Hawley has conceded that there was probable cause to draw his blood, his blood was drawn in a reasonable manner, and he did not reasonably object to the blood draw. See Arnold v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 2004 WI App 195, ¶ 52, 276 Wis. 2d 762, 688 N.W.2d 708 (citation omitted) (holding that a party conceded a point of (continued on next page)

"[A]s a result of the human body's natural metabolic processes, the amount of alcohol in an individual's blood dissipates over time, which may result in the loss of evidence." State v. Reese, 2014 WI App 27, ¶ 16, 353 Wis. 2d 266, 844 N.W.2d 396 (citing Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 770-71 (1966)). See also Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 42 (citing Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1556 (2013)) ("Evidence of a crime is destroyed as alcohol is eliminated from the bloodstream of a drunken driver.").

"[W]hile the natural dissipation of alcohol in the blood may support a finding of exigency in a specific case, . . . it does not do so categorically. Whether a warrantless blood test of a drunk-driving suspect is reasonable must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances." *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 42 (alterations in *Tullberg*) (quoting *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1563). "[N]o single fact is dispositive." *Id.*, ¶ 42 n.23 (citation omitted). "Ultimately, '[i]n those drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so." *Id.*, ¶ 42 (alteration in *Tullberg*) (quoting *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1561).

law by not arguing otherwise). Accordingly, Section I.B. of this brief will focus on whether exigent circumstances justified the blood draw. Nonetheless, Section II.B. of this brief, which addresses the State's alternative argument regarding the implied consent statute, will explain that there was probable cause to draw Hawley's blood.

# B. Exigent circumstances justified the blood draw that was performed on Hawley.

Under the totality of the circumstances, the warrantless blood draw was justified because Sergeant Hanson knew that Hawley's BAC legal limit was 0.02, Sergeant Hanson reasonably spent more than an hour investigating and attending to the accident scene, Hawley was transported to a hospital for unknown treatment for a serious injury, and Hawley's blood was drawn approximately two and a half hours after the accident.

# 1. Sergeant Hanson knew that Hawley's BAC legal limit was 0.02, which contributed to the exigent need for a blood draw.

One of the most important facts in this case is that Sergeant Hanson knew that Hawley had a BAC legal limit of 0.02 because he had at least five prior drunk-driving-related convictions (70:24; 33:2). See also Wis. Stat. § 340.01(46m)(c) (stating that operating a motor vehicle with a BAC of "more than 0.02" is prohibited for a person with three or more drunk-driving-related convictions). Sergeant Hanson learned that information while Hawley was being transferred from an ambulance to the Medflight helicopter, near the accident scene (70:21, 24-26). Further, Sergeant Hanson learned that information before he contacted the UW Police Department to request a blood draw (74:97-98). Sergeant Hanson also knew that it does not "take a lot of alcohol to get to .02" (70:24; see also 33:2). Before Hawley's blood was drawn,

Sergeant Hanson told Officer Shaw that he cited Hawley for sixth-offense operating while intoxicated (70:6, 11, 40).

At a "normal" rate, a human body eliminates 0.015 to 0.02 grams of alcohol per deciliter of blood per hour. J. Alcohol–Related Offenses: Nicholas Bostic, Retrograde Extrapolation after Wager, 79 Michigan Bar J. 668, 672 (June 2000) (citation omitted). See also McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1560 ("Testimony before the trial court in this case indicated that the percentage of alcohol in an individual's blood typically decreases by approximately 0.015 percent to 0.02 percent per hour once the alcohol has been fully absorbed."); Mata v. State, 46 S.W.3d 902, 914-15 (Tex. Crim. App. 2001) (discussing expert testimony and scientific literature on normal rates at which alcohol is eliminated from the bloodstream). "The least alcohol-tolerant drinker would eliminate alcohol at a rate of .01 percent per hour, while the most tolerant drinker would eliminate alcohol at a rate of up to .025 percent per hour." State v. Eumana-Moranchel, 277 P.3d 549, 551 (Or. 2012).

For example, if a person's bloodstream eliminates 0.02 grams of alcohol per deciliter of blood per hour, then the person's BAC will drop from 0.04 to 0.02 after one hour, and from 0.02 to zero after one more hour. See State v. Ritz, 347 P.3d 1052, 1059-60 (Or. App. 2015), review allowed (Or. July 9, 2015) ("With a dissipation rate of 0.015 per hour, it would take approximately five hours and twenty minutes for a person's BAC to drop from 0.08 to 0.00."); see also State v.

Giese, 2014 WI App 92, ¶¶ 6, 8, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687 (discussing blood-alcohol elimination rates and backwards extrapolation); Jennifer L. Pariser, In Veritas: The Truth About Blood Alcohol Presumptions in State Drunk Driving Law, 64 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 141, 152 (April 1989) (same). Thus, if Hawley's BAC were slightly beyond his 0.02 legal limit when he crashed his motorcycle, his BAC could have gone from 0.02 to zero in one hour if his bloodstream had an hourly elimination rate of 0.02. Similarly, at an hourly elimination rate of 0.015, his BAC could have gone from 0.02 to zero a mere one hour and twenty minutes after the motorcycle crash. Even at a low elimination rate of 0.01 per hour, his BAC could have gone from 0.02 to zero in two hours. At a high elimination rate of 0.025, his BAC could have gone from 0.02 to zero in fortyeight minutes. Hawley very well might have a high bloodalcohol elimination rate like 0.025—because he was driving a motorcycle with a very high BAC of 0.312, he appears to have a high tolerance for alcohol and therefore a high elimination rate. See Eumana-Moranchel, 277 P.3d at 551.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> These figures assume that Hawley's bloodstream was eliminating, rather than absorbing, alcohol at the time of the blood draw. *See generally Mata v. State*, 46 S.W.3d 902, 909-10 (Tex. Crim. App. 2001) (discussing the bloodstream's absorption and elimination of alcohol); *see also State v. Giese*, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 26, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687 (accepting an expert witness's assumption that Giese's bloodstream had finished absorbing alcohol by the time of his blood draw).

Applying these standard elimination rates shows that Hawley's BAC could have dropped from slightly over his 0.02 legal limit to zero before he was flown to the hospital. Hawley was placed in the Medflight helicopter at 12:24 p.m., and his flight from Sauk County to the UW Hospital began sometime afterward (70:25-26, 32). Assuming that Hawley crashed his motorcycle at approximately 11:20 a.m., his BAC could have dropped from slightly above 0.02 to zero by 12:20 p.m., with a typical elimination rate of 0.02. If he crashed his motorcycle well before 11:20 a.m., then his BAC could have gone from 0.02 to zero well before noon.

Further, Hawley's BAC could have dropped from slightly over 0.02 to zero well before his blood was ultimately drawn at 1:50 p.m. (see 1:3). Although Sergeant Hanson testified that he thought he could have obtained an electronic warrant before Hawley's blood was drawn (70:39), that hindsight observation is irrelevant to the exigency analysis here. A court "do[es] not apply hindsight to the exigency analysis; [the court consider[s] only circumstances known to the officer at the time he made the [search] and evaluate the reasonableness of the officer's action in light of those circumstances." State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 43, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29 (citation

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Sergeant Hanson arrived at the accident scene somewhere between 11:22 and 11:24 a.m. (70:13-16). He estimated that the crash occurred shortly before he arrived (70:41). The circuit court found that "[i]t was reasonable to assume that the accident had just happened before" Sergeant Hanson arrived (33:3).

omitted). The circuit court found that Sergeant Hanson "did not know how much time he had to obtain a warrant" (33:4).<sup>7</sup> That finding is not clearly erroneous.

In any event, the exigency test is not whether Sergeant Hanson subjectively thought that he could have obtained a warrant, period, before the blood draw occurred. "To determine if exigent circumstances justified a search, a reviewing court determines whether the police officers under the circumstances known to them at the time reasonably believed that a delay in procuring a warrant would . . . risk the destruction of evidence." *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 41 (alteration in *Tullberg*) (quotation marks and quoted source omitted). This standard is an objective one. *Id.* An officer's decision to forgo a warrant will be upheld if the officer "reasonably concluded" that seeking a warrant "would have 'significantly undermin[ed] the efficacy' of the blood draw." *Id.*, ¶ 50 n.26 (alteration in *Tullberg*) (quoting *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1561).

Sergeant Hanson reasonably concluded that, if he applied for a warrant, he would have "risk[ed] the destruction of evidence" that Hawley was operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration of more than 0.02. See id.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The circuit court made this finding in its memorandum decision denying Hawley's suppression motion. "Facts which are stated in a trial court's memorandum decision will be accorded the same weight as if they had been contained in formal findings." *State v. Ortiz-Mondragon*, 2015 WI 73, ¶ 59 n.18, 364 Wis. 2d 1, 866 N.W.2d 717 (quotation marks and quoted source omitted).

¶ 41 (quotation marks and quoted source omitted). Sergeant Hanson estimated that his officers could generally obtain an electronic search warrant in thirty to forty-five minutes (70:35). He left the accident scene at 12:37 p.m. once he finished clearing the scene (70:34, 39). Thus, if he began applying for an electronic warrant at 12:37 p.m., he could have obtained one around 1:07 or 1:22 p.m. As indicated earlier, Hawley's BAC could have gone from slightly over his 0.02 legal limit to zero by 12:08, 12:20, 12:40, or 1:20 p.m. with respective elimination rates of 0.025, 0.02, 0.015, and 0.01. Under these circumstances, Sergeant Hanson had a reasonable basis to think that waiting for a warrant could have allowed Hawley's BAC to drop to zero. Cf. Ritz, 347 P.3d at 1059-60 (holding that exigent circumstances justified a warrantless blood draw because "the police had an objectively reasonable basis to believe that waiting for a warrant would have resulted in the complete loss of evidence" by allowing Ritz's BAC to drop "to zero").

The fact that Hawley's BAC turned out to be 0.312 does not undercut the reasonableness of Sergeant Hanson's conclusion that he had an exigent need to have Hawley's blood drawn. As noted earlier, hindsight is not part of "the exigency analysis." *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 43 (citation omitted). Based on Sergeant Hanson's observations and beliefs, it was reasonable for him to pursue an investigation into whether Hawley was operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration of more than 0.02, rather than

assuming that Hawley's BAC was well beyond his legal limit.

In particular, Sergeant Hanson observed that one of Hawley's eyes was reddish and bloodshot and that Hawley's breath emitted "a strong odor of intoxicants" (70:19-20). However, Sergeant Hanson testified that Hawley's eye could have been bloodshot due to the injuries he suffered in the motorcycle accident (70:36). Sergeant Hanson could not tell whether Hawley's speech was slurred (70:36). Sergeant Hanson did not administer a preliminary breath test (70:37). Sergeant Hanson thought that Hawley's inability to stand could have been due to the motorcycle crash rather than intoxication (1:3). When Sergeant Hanson asked him whether he had been drinking, Hawley did not admit to drinking but instead responded by saying "fuck you" (70:19). Sergeant Hanson believed that Hawley was unconscious due to a sedative that EMS personnel administered, not due to intoxication (70:37).

The State briefly notes two of Hawley's assertions that are not supported by the record. First, he claims that Sergeant Hanson "simply stopped working on the case" after 12:24 p.m. (Hawley's Br. at 6). To the contrary, at 12:24 p.m., Hawley was loaded onto the Medflight helicopter, so Sergeant Hanson returned to the accident scene to clear it (70:33-34, 39). At 12:37 p.m., Sergeant Hanson left the scene and thereafter began writing a report for this case and called Officer Shaw (70:34). The preceding discussion shows that

Sergeant Hanson reasonably chose not to seek a warrant after Hawley was loaded onto Medflight or after Sergeant Hanson left the scene.

Second, Hawley incorrectly argues that, "[c]ritically, Officer Shaw received the blood draw request at 12:24 p.m.," which "means that Officer Shaw had more than an hour to obtain a warrant" (Hawley's Br. at 4-5). The record does not support Hawley's claim that Officer Shaw received the blooddraw request at 12:24 p.m. Sergeant Hanson testified that "[t]he UW PD was contacted by teletype from our sheriff's department requesting an officer to respond to the location" (70:30). This contact occurred at 12:24 p.m. (70:30). Sergeant Hanson reiterated moments later that "UW PD was contacted for the blood draw" at 12:24 p.m. (70:33). Sergeant Hanson never testified that anyone contacted Officer Shaw at 12:24 p.m. Rather, Sergeant Hanson testified that he spoke to Officer Shaw over the phone sometime after 1:23 p.m. (70:40). Officer Shaw testified that he received Sergeant Hanson's request for a blood draw "through our dispatch" (70:4). When asked whether he recalled receiving the request "at approximately 1:00 p.m. in the afternoon, or sometime that day," he said, "I do remember that, yes" (70:4).8 In short, the record shows that, after receiving the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> At one point during the suppression-motion hearing, Officer Shaw was asked whether he remembered when he talked with the Sauk County Sheriff's Department, and he answered, "I believe the request came in 11:30, approximately" (70:12). It is unclear whether Officer Shaw meant that the UW Police Department or he personally received the blood(continued on next page)

blood-draw request by dispatch around 1:00 p.m., Officer Shaw went to the hospital, spoke to hospital staff, spoke to Sergeant Hanson over the phone, read the Informing the Accused information to Hawley, and then observed a nurse draw Hawley's blood (70:4-6, 8, 40). Hawley is incorrect in arguing that Officer Shaw had much time or was otherwise free to seek a search warrant.

2. Sergeant Hanson reasonably investigated and attended to the accident scene, thereby delaying his ability to apply for a warrant.

Another factor supporting the exigency in this case is that Sergeant Hanson had to investigate and attend to Hawley's serious motorcycle accident. See McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1568 (holding that "the need for the police to attend to a car accident" is one factor that the exigency analysis may consider); Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 769, 770–71 (holding that exigent circumstances justified a warrantless draw of a suspected drunken driver's blood partly because the police officer needed to investigate the scene of a car accident). "An accident scene . . . can create exigent circumstances which would justify a warrantless blood draw." Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 49.

draw request at that time. In any event, that statement was uncertain and inconsistent with Sergeant Hanson's testimony, based on sheriff's department documents that logged the various times when these events occurred, that the Sauk County Sheriff's Department contacted the UW Police Department at 12:24 and that he called Officer Shaw sometime after 1:23 (70:30, 32-33, 40).

Sergeant Hanson complied with the supreme court's directive that "[a] law enforcement officer, ... who is confronted with an accident scene, should first attend to the emergency circumstances at hand." *Id.* Sergeant Hanson was the first responder at the accident scene, and his "major concern" was Hawley's injuries (70:16). In order to prevent exacerbation of a possible spinal injury, Sergeant Hanson attempted to hold Hawley's neck in place until EMS personnel arrived (70:18). When EMS personnel arrived, Sergeant Hanson gave them a "quick synopsis" of Hawley's situation and "turned patient care over to them" (70:20).

While EMS personnel were transporting Hawley from the accident scene to the nearby Medflight helicopter, Sergeant Hanson and a sheriff's deputy investigated the accident scene (70:23). They took measurements and photographs and ordered a towing service to remove Hawley's motorcycle (70:23). Sergeant Hanson ran the registration information for Hawley's motorcycle as well as Hawley's driver license and driver record (70:24). At the request of EMS personnel, Sergeant Hanson then drove to the area where the Medflight helicopter was sitting because Hawley was being uncooperative (70:24-25). After Hawley was loaded onto Medflight at 12:24 p.m., Sergeant Hanson cleared the accident scene until 12:37 p.m., when he left to begin writing a report on the incident (70:32, 34-39).

In short, Sergeant Hanson spent approximately one hour and fifteen minutes attending to and investigating the accident (see 70:13-15, 32, 40). Those duties reasonably delayed his ability to apply for a search warrant. See Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶¶ 49-50.

3. Hawley was transported to a hospital for unknown treatment for a serious injury, all of which contributed to the exigent need for a blood draw.

Sergeant Hanson believed that Hawley sustained "quite serious injuries" in a "very, very serious traffic accident" (70:27, 29). Similarly, Officer Shaw thought that Hawley's injuries were "serious" (70:10). These observations were reasonable because Hawley was not wearing a helmet, he appeared to have gone airborne during the crash, and his motorcycle ended up approximately 194 feet from the point where it left the highway (70:23, 27). Hawley was semiconscious and incoherent (70:18). Accordingly, Sergeant Hanson's "main concern" was that Hawley could have sustained a neck injury that could result in paralysis (70:18).

Sergeant Hanson testified that he was concerned that Hawley's medical care could affect the result of a blood test (70:28). Sergeant Hanson did not know what kind of medication the Medflight personnel had given to Hawley (70:28). He also did not know what kind of treatment Hawley would need to have at the hospital (70:28). He believed that Hawley would need to be in the emergency room for quite some time (70:29).

Although Sergeant Hanson left the accident scene approximately one hour and fifteen minutes before the blood

draw occurred, he "did not know how much time he had to obtain [a] warrant" (33:4). Further, given the seriousness and uncertainty of Hawley's medical condition, Sergeant Hanson did not know whether Hawley would be available for a blood draw by the time a warrant could be issued. See, e.g., Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 48; accord State v. Stavish, 868 N.W.2d 670, 677-78 (Minn. Aug. 19, 2015). Accordingly, Hawley's serious medical condition, transport to a hospital in another county, and need for unknown treatment contributed to the exigency of the need for the warrantless blood draw. See Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 770–71 (holding that exigent circumstances justified a warrantless draw of a suspected drunken driver's blood partly because the driver went to a hospital after a car accident); Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶¶ 46, 48 (finding exigent circumstances partly because the officer did not know how much time Tullberg's CT scan would take, whether Tullberg would need subsequent medical care, or how much time any subsequent care would take); accord Stavish, 868 N.W.2d at 678 (holding that an exigency justified a warrantless blood draw because "Stavish's medical condition and need for treatment rendered his future availability for a blood draw uncertain").

Hawley argues that "[n]o explanation exists in the record as to how law enforcement's application for a warrant would interfere with Mr. Hawley's medical care" (Hawley's Br. at 6). However, the exigency analysis considers whether delaying a blood draw to wait for a warrant would have

risked the destruction of evidence, not whether such a delay would have interfered with a defendant's medical care. See Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶¶ 48, 50. Hawley's medical condition supported Sergeant Hanson's conclusion that such a delay would have risked the destruction of Hawley's BAC evidence. See id.

4. Hawley's blood was drawn barely within the three-hour limit for automatic admissibility of the blood test result, which contributed to the exigency in this case.

Sergeant Hanson estimated that he arrived at the accident scene shortly after Hawley crashed his motorcycle (70:41). Sergeant Hanson arrived at the accident scene somewhere between 11:22 and 11:24 a.m. (70:14-16). The circuit court found that "[i]t was reasonable to assume that the accident had just happened before" Sergeant Hanson arrived (33:3). Hawley's blood was drawn at 1:50 p.m., approximately two and a half hours after his motorcycle accident (1:3).

"[A] suspected drunken driver's blood should be drawn within three hours of an automobile accident in which the driver was involved." Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 19. "If a blood sample is taken more than three hours after an automobile accident, the blood draw evidence is admissible only if an expert testifies to its accuracy." Id., ¶ 19 n.7 (citing Wis. Stat. § 885.235(1g) & (3) (2009-10)). But blood test evidence "is admissible . . . if the [blood] sample was taken

within 3 hours after the event to be proved." Wis. Stat. § 885.235(1g).

"[B]ecause an individual's alcohol level gradually declines soon after he stops drinking, a significant delay in testing will negatively affect the probative value of the results." *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1561. "While experts can work backwards from the BAC at the time the sample was taken to determine the BAC at the time of the alleged offense, longer intervals may raise questions about the accuracy of the calculation." *Id.* at 1563. A gap of "over two hours" between an automobile accident and a blood draw "is a significant length of time and seriously affects the reliability of any extrapolation." *Mata*, 46 S.W.3d at 917.

Accordingly, the fact that Hawley's blood was drawn barely within three hours of the accident contributes to the exigency of this case. See Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶¶ 47-48 (relying on Wis. Stat. § 885.235's three-hour rule to conclude that exigent circumstances justified a blood draw that occurred more than two and a half hours after an automobile accident); Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 769, 771 (holding that an exigency justified a warrantless draw of a suspected drunken driver's blood that was performed more than two hours after a car accident); accord Stavish, 868 N.W.2d at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "Retrograde extrapolation is the computation back in time of the blood-alcohol level—that is, the estimation of the level at the time of driving based on a test result from some later time." *Mata v. State*, 46 S.W.3d 902, 908-09 (Tex. Crim. App. 2001) (citation omitted).

677-78 (relying on a Minnesota statute that requires a blood draw "within 2 hours of the accident to ensure the reliability and admissibility of the alcohol concentration evidence" to conclude that exigent circumstances justified a blood draw that occurred fifty minutes after an automobile accident).

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